#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**BRIAN CARREIRO** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-00280-COA

#### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and\or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- Dewitt (Dee) Bates, Jr., Esq.
   Diane Y. Jones, Esq.
   District Attorney's Office
   301 S. First Street, Room 207
   Brookhaven, MS 39601
- James M. Hood, III, Esq.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The counsel provided to Mr. Carreiro was so deficient and ineffective that Mr. Carreiro's constitutional rights were violated;
  - 2. The trial court was without jurisdiction to impose the sentence;
- 3. The guilty plea and sentence imposed were unlawful and violated Mr. Carriero's constitutional rights;
- 4. The sentence imposed was in violation of the United States Constitution and the Constitution of the State of Mississippi; and

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about August 3, 2004, Brian Keith Carreiro was indicted by the Grand Jury of Lincoln County, Mississippi in a two count indictment which alleged that Mr. Carreiro violated "Section 97-5-33(2) of the Mississippi Code of 1972" and that Mr. Carreiro violated "Section 97-5-23 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, this being count two (2) of the indictment..." (R. 25).

On September 17, 2004, Mr. Carreiro executed a Know Your Rights Before Pleading form. (R. 67).

On September 17, 2004, Mr. Carriero was taken into the chambers of Judge Smith, wherein he purportedly entered a guilty plea to both counts of the indictment against him as demonstrated by the Transcript of Plea and Sentencing. (R. 69).

On September 17, 2004, the Court entered a Sentencing Order which ordered as follows: as to Count One of the Indictment, the Court sentenced Mr. Carreiro to a term of twenty (20) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with five (5) years to serve and the remaining fifteen (15) years to be served on post release supervision with the first five (5) years to be reporting and the last ten (10) years to be non-reporting. (R. 78). As to Count Two of the Indictment, the Court sentenced Mr. Carreiro to a term of fifteen (15) years with five (5) years to serve in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with ten (10) years on post release supervision, the first five (5) years to be reporting and the remaining five (5) years to be non-reporting. (R. 78). The sentences were ordered to be served consecutively. (R. 78). The Court ordered the time to serve be day for day. (R. 78). The sentencing order contained a provision stating that "[t]he Defendant is ordered to complete whatever psychiatric counseling is available to him." (R. 78.) The sentencing order also states, inter alia, that "upon his release from incarceration, the Defendant is barred from entering Lincoln, Pike and Walthall counties in

Mississippi." (R. 78).

On or about May 23, 2006, Mr. Carreiro filed his Petition for Post-Conviction Relief in the Lincoln County Circuit Court pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 99-39-1 et. seq. seeking review of his case, revocation of his pleas of guilty, dismissal of the charges against him and an order directing the Mississippi Department of Corrections to immediately release him from custody. (R. 5).

On October 8, 2007, a hearing was had in the Circuit Court of Lincoln County,

Mississippi before the Honorable Judge David H. Strong, Jr., on the Motion for Post-Conviction

Relief filed by Mr. Carreiro. (RT 10-53)

On or about November 28, 2007, the Lincoln County Circuit Court rendered its Order denying the Motion for Post-Conviction Relief. (R. 112).

On or about December 21, 2007, Brian Carreiro filed his Notice of Appeal herein.

#### **FACTS**

On or about August 3, 2004, Brian Keith Carreiro was indicted by the Grand Jury of Lincoln County, Mississippi in a two count indictment which alleged that Mr. Carreiro violated "Section 97-5-33(2) of the Mississippi Code of 1972" and that Mr. Carreiro violated "Section 97-5-23 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, this being count two (2) of the indictment..." (R. 25). The indictment stemmed from an investigation conducted by the Lincoln County Sheriff's Department in June of 2004. The investigation began after the Sheriff's wife, Mrs. Wiley Calcote, allegedly found pictures of her seven year old daughter on a camera owned by Mr. Carreiro. The pictures displayed the back and feet of a fully clothed child, lying under a comforter. (R. 27).

The camera and photographs were allegedly discovered in Gulf Shores, Alabama on or

about June 4, 2004, while the Sheriff and his wife were on vacation in Gulf Shores, Alabama according to the Investigator Report. (R. 28). Mr. Carreiro had accompanied the Sheriff, Mrs. Calcote and their daughter to Gulf Shores, Alabama. (R. 28). Mr. Carreiro worked for the Calcotes in a domestic capacity and cleaned their house for them in exchange for room and board. (R. 28). After discovery of the photographs, Sheriff Calcote brought Mr. Carreiro back to Lincoln County, Mississippi where he was interrogated by two deputies of the Lincoln County Sheriff's Department and at which time Mr. Carreiro gave a written statement and was immediately arrested and charged with the aforementioned violations of Mississippi law. (R. 29).

Attorney Gus Sermos was appointed by the Lincoln County Circuit Court to represent Mr. Carriero after his arrest and indictment. The Lincoln County District Attorney's office provided Mr. Sermos with a copy of the photographs, a copy of the "Investigators Report" and a copy of Mr. Carreiro's alleged hand written confession. Mr. Sermos conducted no more investigations and immediately began attempting to persuade Mr. Carreiro to enter a guilty plea to all charges. (R. 31-38). During the course of his representation, Mr. Sermos failed to properly advise Mr. Carreiro of the elements that make up the charges against Mr. Carreiro and failed to ensure that Mr. Carreiro fully understood the consequences of entering a guilty plea. (R. 31-38). Mr. Carreiro has a functional I.Q. of approximately 76 and has been diagnosed with schizophrenia as demonstrated by Mr. Carreiro's medical records in this case. (R. 39-66). Mr. Sermos failed to fully investigate Mr. Carreiro's capacity to understand the nature of the elements of the charges and failed to properly advise Mr. Carreiro of the elements of the charges.

On or about September 17, 2004, Mr. Carriero, acting upon advice of counsel signed a Know Your Rights Before Pleading form. (R. 67). Mr. Carreiro was then taken into the **chambers** of Judge Smith, wherein he entered a guilty plea to both counts of the indictment

against him as demonstrated by the Transcript of Plea and Sentencing. (R. 69). As to Count One of the Indictment, the Court sentenced Mr. Carreiro to a term of twenty (20) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with five (5) years to serve and the remaining fifteen (15) years to be served on post release supervision with the first five (5) years to be reporting and the last ten (10) years to be non-reporting. (R. 78). As to Count Two of the Indictment, the Court sentenced Mr. Carreiro to a term of fifteen (15) years with five (5) years to serve in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with ten (10) years on post release supervision, the first five (5) years to be reporting and the remaining five (5) years to be non-reporting. (R. 78). The sentences were ordered to be served consecutively. (R. 78). The Court ordered the time to serve be day for day. (R. 78). The sentencing order contained a provision stating that "[t]he Defendant is ordered to complete whatever psychiatric counseling is available to him." (R. 78.) The sentencing order also states, inter alia, that "upon his release from incarceration, the Defendant is barred from entering Lincoln, Pike and Walthall counties in Mississippi." (R. 78).

On or about May 23, 2006, Mr. Carreiro filed his Petition for Post-Conviction Relief in the Lincoln County Circuit Court pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 99-39-1 et. seq. seeking review of his case, revocation of his pleas of guilty, dismissal of the charges against him and an order directing the Mississippi Department of Corrections to immediately release him from custody. (R. 5).

On or about November 28, 2007, the Lincoln County Circuit Court rendered its Order denying the Motion for Post-Conviction Relief. (R. 112).

Aggrieved of this decision, Brian Carreiro appeals to this honorable Court.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- I. The Circuit Court of Lincoln County, Mississippi Did Not Have Jurisdiction of the Subject Matter in this Case in that there was no showing that the pictures which form the basis for Count I of the Indictment were taken in Lincoln County, Mississippi. There is no proof whatsoever that the pictures were taken in Lincoln County, Mississippi, and in fact, the facts support the finding that the pictures were taken in Alabama. If the Lincoln County Circuit Court was without jurisdiction in this matter, then the sentence in this case is unlawful and must be vacated.
- II. The guilty plea and sentence imposed were unlawful and violated Mr. Carriero's constitutional rights. First, no factual basis existed to support a finding of guilt in this matter in that the pictures which form the basis for this case do not rise to the level of a crime under the statute and there was no evidence whatsoever that the defendant touched the buttocks of the minor child. Second, Brian Carreiro's entry of a guilty plea in this case was not freely, knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently entered in that the Judge did not, and could not have, found a legally factual sufficient basis for the plea in this matter. Third, Brian Carreiro has never been adjudicated guilty by the circuit court of Lincoln County, Mississippi in that there was never an acceptance of the guilty plea, never an adjudication of guilt and no Order of Conviction was ever entered by the Court.
- III. The sentencing order is which banishes Mr. Carreiro from three counties is unlawful and unsupported by a finding from the court. The trial court failed to state any reasons for reaching this decision of banishing the Defendant from Pike, Walthall and Lincoln Counties and therefore, it is unconstitutional and should be dismissed or in the alternative, this matter should be remanded for a hearing to determine the validity of this banishment provision.

IV. Mr. Carreiro was denied effective assistance of counsel in this matter and his counsel's deficiencies severely prejudiced Mr. Carreiro's rights. But for the deficiencies of counsel, the result in Mr. Carreiro's case would have been vastly different. First, Mr. Carreiro's counsel never properly informed him of the elements contained in the count one (1) of the indictment. Moreover, Mr. Carreiro's counsel failed to inform Mr. Carreiro that the State's evidence did not meet the elements in counts one (1) and two (2). Second, Mr. Carreiro suffers from an extremely limited I.Q. which affects his ability to comprehend, assimilate information and make intelligent informed decisions. Third, Mr. Carreiro suffers from schizophrenia and had been deprived of his medication for an extended amount of time prior to entry of his guilty plea. Counsel for Mr. Carreiro never investigated the issue of intelligence and never raised the issue of competency to the Court. (RT. 21-24). Finally, Mr. Carreiro's counsel allowed his own feelings to interfere with his duty to properly investigate, analyze the case and defend his client. All of these errors by defense counsel severely prejudiced Mr. Carreiro.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW:

"A trial court's finding of fact in post-conviction relief cases will not be overturned by an appellate court unless found to be clearly erroneous." *Jones v. State*, 976 So.2d 407, 410 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (citing *Hill v. State*, 940 So.2d 972, 973 (Miss.Ct.App.2006) (citing *Boyd v. State*, 926 So.2d 233, 235 (Miss.Ct.App.2005)). "However, questions of law are reviewed de novo." *Id*.

#### **ARGUMENT:**

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LINCOLN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI DID NOT HAVE JURISDICTION OF THE SUBJECT MATTER IN THIS CASE.

In a criminal case, venue is jurisdictional, must be proved, and may be raised for the first time on appeal. *Crum v. State*, 216 Miss. 780, 788, 63 So.2d 242, 245 (1953). The venue of a criminal offense is in the county where the crime was committed, unless otherwise provided by law. *Miss. Code Ann. § 99-11-3(1) (Rev.2000)*. Proof of jurisdiction may be shown either by direct or circumstantial evidence. *Smith v. State*, 646 So.2d 538, 541 (Miss.1994). In Mr. Carriero's case, the was no showing that the pictures were taken in Lincoln County, Mississippi. The pictures were of the minor child, K.C. asleep in a swimsuit. The Sheriff's family and Mr. Carreiro were in Gulf Shores, Alabama for a wedding when the pictures were allegedly taken and where the film was developed. (R. 28). As stated in the Investigator Report, the child's father stated that the child's mother "showed him the pictures on 06-04-04 while they were in Gulfshores, Alabama." (R. 28.) The child's father then left Gulfshores, Alabama and "traveled back to Brookhaven with Brian Carreiro without telling him about the photos." (R. 28). There is a beach and swimming facilities in Gulf Shores, Alabama, where Mr. Carriero and the Calcotes were staying. There is no proof whatsoever that the pictures were taken in Lincoln County,

Mississippi, and in fact, the facts support the finding that the pictures were taken in Alabama. The trial Court never made a finding that any of the offenses took place in Lincoln County, Mississippi, although, Judge Strong made a finding of jurisdiction in his Order denying Post-Conviction Relief. The State never offered any facts at the hearing regarding the guilty plea that the pictures were taken in Lincoln County, Mississippi and therefore no factual basis for jurisdiction could be found by the trial court. There was no testimony brought forward at the hearing on the Motion for Post-Conviction Relief that the pictures were taken in Lincoln County, Mississippi. As such, the Circuit Court of Lincoln County, Mississippi was without jurisdiction of the subject matter of this criminal case against Mr. Carreiro and the charges against him should be dismissed in toto.

- II. THE GUILTY PLEA AND SENTENCE IMPOSED WERE UNLAWFUL AND VIOLATED MR. CARRIERO'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.
- A. No Factual Basis Existed to Support a Finding of Guilty in this Matter.

"[A] criminal defendant who has entered a guilty plea cannot litigate his actual guilt on appeal from a denial of post-conviction relief, unless the defendant can show that the guilty plea was not knowingly, voluntarily, or intelligently entered." *Jones v. State*, 976 So.2d 407, 411 (Miss.App.,2008) (*quoting Jones v. State*, 948 So.2d 499, 505(¶ 17) (Miss.Ct.App.2007) (*citing Graham v. State*, 914 So.2d 1256, 1259(¶ 8) (Miss.Ct.App.2005)). "In reviewing a defendant's claim that his guilty plea was not entered knowingly and voluntarily, [an appellate court] must determine if the trial court's finding was clearly erroneous." *Jones v. State*, 976 So.2d 407, 411 (Miss.App.,2008) (*quoting Hall v. State*, 906 So.2d 34, 36(¶ 5) (Miss.Ct.App.2004) (*citing Swindoll v. State*, 859 So.2d 1063, 1065(¶ 9) (Miss.Ct.App.2003)).

Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice, Rule 8.04 imposes upon the Court

certain duties and obligations to insure that a plea is knowing, intelligent and voluntary. *See Hodgin v. State*, 702 So.2d 113, (Miss. 1997). The Court failed in its duty to Mr. Carriero surrounding the plea. Rule 8.04 (A)(3) states

Before the trial court may accept a plea of guilty, the court must determine that the plea is voluntarily and intelligently made and that there is a factual basis for the plea. A plea of guilty is not voluntary if induced by fear, violence, deception, or improper inducements. A showing that the plea of guilty was voluntarily and intelligently made must appear in the record.

Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice, Rule 8.04 (A)(3). In Mr. Carreiro's case, the Court failed to make a finding that his plea was voluntary. (RT. 1-9). The Court also failed to make an on the record determination that a sufficient factual basis existed for accepting Mr. Carreiro's guilty plea. In fact, the trial Court did not ask the State to explain the factual basis for the charges against Mr. Carreiro during the guilty plea hearing. (RT. 1-9). Had the Court merely inquired into the factual basis for the plea, it would have readily determined that Mr. Carreiro had committed no crime as to count one (1) and no crime as to count two (2).

The United States Supreme Court case of *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 242, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969), provides the standard for determining whether a guilty plea is knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently made by a defendant. (*See also Vittitoe v. State*, 556 So.2d 1062 (Miss.1990)). "The record must reflect that the trial court thoroughly discussed with the defendant all of the consequences of a guilty plea, including the waiver of rights, satisfaction with one's attorney and advisement on the maximum and minimum penalties one can acquire for the crime committed." *Barnes v. State*, 803 So.2d 1271, 1274 (Miss. 2002) (*citing Alexander v. State*, 605 So.2d 1170 (Miss. 1992); *Gardner v. State*, 531 So.2d 805 (Miss. 1988).

"A guilty plea may not be accepted where the defendant did not plead of his own volition." *Barnes v. State*, 803 So.2d 1271, 1274 (Miss. 2002) (citing Boykin v. Alabama, 395

U.S. 238 (1969)). "Ignorance, incomprehension, coercion, terror, inducements, subtle or blatant threats might be a perfect cover-up of unconstitutionality." *Barnes v. State*, 803 So.2d 1271, 1274 (Miss. 2002) (citing Kercheval v. United States, 274 U.S. 220 (1927). Mr. Carreiro's guilty plea was simply erroneous as to count one. There was no factual basis for finding guilt under any circumstance as to count one. The Court wholly failed to make an inquiry into the factual basis for the plea. The record is devoid of any findings and is devoid of an adjudication of guilt.

Had the Court fulfilled its duty to make an on the record finding of a knowing, intelligent and voluntary waiver it would have prevented Mr. Carriero from entering his guilty plea and, thus, Mr. Carreiro would not be incarcerated for the offenses in which he is presently incarcerated. A person cannot be convicted and incarcerated for a behavior that is not criminal. "Criminal statutes must be strictly construed, to avoid ensnaring behavior that is not clearly proscribed." Simpson v. Simpson, 490 F.2d 803, 809 (5th Cir., 1974). (See Morissette v. United States, 342 U.S. 246, 263, 72 S.Ct. 240, 96 L.Ed. 288 (1952); United States v. Resnick, 299 U.S. 207, 209, 57 S.Ct. 126, 81 L.Ed. 127 (1936); United States v. Edwards, 458 F.2d 875, 880 (5th Cir., 1972), cert. den., Huie v. United States, 409 U.S. 891, 93 S.Ct. 118, 34 L.Ed.2d 148; United States v. Fisher, 456 F.2d 1143 (10th Cir., 1972)). The evidence in this case is not adequate to obtain a guilty plea.

As the Supreme Court stated in *Bell v. United States*, 349 U.S. 81, 83 (1955) "[w]hen Congress leaves to the Judiciary the task of imputing to Congress an undeclared will, the ambiguity should be resolved in favor of lenity." *See also U. S. v. Box*, 530 F.2d 1258 (5<sup>TH</sup> Cir. 1976); *U.S. v. Bridges*, 493 F.2d 918, (5th Cir., 1974). Moreover, one "is not to be subjected to a penalty unless the words of the statute plainly impose it." *Keppel v. Tiffin Savings Bank*, 197 U.S. 356, 362 (1905). "When choice has to be made between two readings of what conduct

Congress has made a crime, it is appropriate, before we choose the harsher alternative, to require that Congress should have spoken in language that is clear and definite." *U.S. v. Orellana*, 405 F. 3d 360 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2005)(citing Jones v. United States, 529 U.S. 848, 849-50, 120 S.Ct. 1904, 146 L.Ed.2d 902 (2000) (citing United States v. Universal C.I.T. Credit Corp., 344 U.S. 218, 221-22, 73 S.Ct. 227, 97 L.Ed. 260 (1952)). The language of the statute is clear and definite. The actions of Mr. Carreiro were not criminal. Clearly, the pictures in this case do not rise to the level of a criminal violation in Mississippi. Brian Carriero should be absolved of those charges.

In this case the Court failed in its duty to explain the nature of the crime to Mr. Carriero. In McCarthy v. United States, 394 U.S. 459 (1969), the Supreme Court held that counsel's statement that he explained the nature of the charges to defendant did not absolve the judge of his personal obligation to inform the defendant of the nature of those charges. McCarthy, 89 S.Ct. at 1173; Id. 89 S.Ct. at 1176 (Black, J. concurring). "Although a judge may have the district attorney read the indictment to the defendant in the judge's presence, instead of reading it to the defendant himself, a judge cannot personally assure himself that a defendant understands the nature of the offense with which he is charged without ensuring first-hand that both he and the defendant know what those charges consist of. Where some of the elements of the offense remain unstated, misunderstandings are likely to occur." United States v. Roberts, 570 F.2d 999, 1011 (D.C.Cir.1977). In this case, the trial judge did not even require the district attorney to read the indictment to the defendant and the record in this case does not support a finding that the Judge and the defendant knew what the charges consisted of. "Whenever the Rule 11 disclosure is incomplete, there is a possibility of a misunderstanding; and whenever this possibility is present and the defendant before sentencing claims that it was a reality, the courts should be loathe to deny an accused his right to trial." Id. This Court never advised Mr. Carreiro of the

charges against him. The Court never conducted an inquiry into the elements of the offense.

Under the aforementioned cases, the Court must vacate Mr. Carreiro's sentence.

Count one of the Indictment charged Mr. Carreiro with "willfully, unlawfully and feloniously photograph on K.C., a child under the age of eighteen years, engaging in sexually explicit conduct, to wit: lascivious exhibition of genital and/or pubic area of the said K.C., contrary to and in violation of Section 97-5-33 (2) of the Mississippi Code of 1972, ..." (R. 25). Mississippi Code Section 97-5-33 (2) states "No person shall, by any means including computer, photograph, film, video tape or otherwise depict or record a child engaging in sexually explicit conduct or in the simulation of sexually explicit conduct." If the trial court has inquired into the facts of this case and viewed the photographs, the Court would have known that Mr. Carreiro had committed no crime and could not plead guilty to such. The photographs in this case clearly show the back, the fully clothed buttocks, the legs and feet of what appears to be a small child lying under a blanket, presumably asleep. There is absolutely nothing in the photographs to suggest sexually explicit conduct as required by the plain language of the statute. The general rule is that penal statutes must be strictly construed. Nelson v. City of Natchez, 19 So.2d 747 (Miss. 1944). Under the plain language of the statute, Mr. Carreiro cannot be factually or legally guilty of the violations contained in count one of the indictment. In the case of State ex rel District Attorney v. Winslow, the Court stated that,

"[t]he legislature, in the exercise of its power to declare what shall constitute a crime or punishable offense, must inform the citizen with reasonable precision what acts it intends to prohibit, so that he may have a certain understandable rule of conduct and know what acts it is his duty to avoid. If the meaning of a criminal statute cannot be judicially ascertained or if, in defining a criminal offense, it omits certain necessary and essential provisions which go to impress the acts committed as being wrongful and criminal, the courts are not at liberty to supply the deficiency, or undertake to make the statute definite and certain. If a statute uses words of no determinative meaning and the language is so general and indefinite as to embrace not only acts properly and legally punishable, but others

not punishable, it will be declared void for uncertainty. It is axiomatic that statutes creating and defining crimes cannot be extended by intendment. Purely statutory offenses cannot be established by implication. There can be no constructive offenses. Before a man can be punished, his case must be plainly and unmistakably within a statute. A statute that either forbids or requires the doing of an act in terms so vague that men of common intelligence must guess as to its meaning and differ as to its application lacks the first essential of due process of law."

State ex rel. Dist. Atty. v. Winslow, 45 So.2d 574 (Miss. 1950)(quoting 14 Am.Jur., Section 19, Pages 773-774.) The indictment charged Mr. Carriero with taking a "photograph on K.C., a child under the age of eighteen years, engaging in sexually explicit conduct, to wit: lascivious exhibition of genital and/or pubic area of the said K.C., contrary to and in violation of Section 97-5-33 (2) of the Mississippi Code of 1972." (emphasis added). Merriam-Webster's Dictionary of Law, © 1996 Merriam-Webster, Inc., defines the word "lascivious" as "reflecting or producing sexual desire or behavior that is considered indecent or obscene." There is nothing remotely indecent or obscene depicted in the photographs that rise to the level of a crime under the laws of the State of Mississippi. The elements of the statute are simply not met. The State produced no evidence of a crime against K.C. by Mr. Carreiro. Moreover, the child is not "engaged" in any "sexually explicit conduct" as required by the statute. The photograph does not in any manner, mode or way display or depict a "lascivious exhibition of the genital and/or pubic area" that the statute requires. No crime existed and no crime was committed. Factually and legally, Mr. Carreiro is innocent of the charge contained in Count One (1) of the Indictment.

Count two of the Indictment charged Mr. Carreiro with "willfully, unlawfully and feloniously, for the purpose of gratifying his lust or indulging licentious sexual desires, touch the buttocks of one K.C., a female child under the age of sixteen years, with his hand, contrary to and in violation of Section 97-5-23 of the Mississippi Code of 1972. . . ." (R. 25). If the trial court has inquired into the facts of this case the Court would have determined that no factual basis for

this existed in that the minor child never stated that Mr. Carreiro touched her buttocks. (R. 28). However, the Court did not inquire into these facts at the guilty plea hearing in chambers and cannot with any reasonableness claim to have based its ruling on a basis in fact.

# B. Brian Carreiro's Entry of a Guilty Plea in this Case Was Not Freely, Knowingly, Voluntarily and Intelligently Entered.

For a guilty plea to be valid, the defendant must be instructed on the elements of the charge against him. *Gilliard v. State*, 462 So.2d 710, 712 (Miss.1985). It is clear from the evidence in the case, along with a reading of the transcript of the entry of the guilty plea, that Mr. Carriero was not informed of the "elements" to support the charges against him. Mr. Carreiro's attorney, Gus Sermos, admitted at the hearing conducted on October 8, 2007, that he did not specifically discuss the elements of the charges with Mr. Carreiro, but instead merely showed Mr. Carreiro the discovery and told him that he thought the prosecution could obtain a conviction. (R. 15). This fact is important, because during the October 8, 2007 hearing, Mr. Sermos could not explain what the word "lasvicous" meant. (R. 18-21). Mr. Carriero was charged with taking pictures of a child engaged in "lasvicious" conduct. The trial judge, as evidenced by the transcript of the entry of the guilty plea certainly did not explain it. Thus, Mr. Carriero's rights could not have been knowingly, voluntarily or intelligently waived and his plea of guilty could not have been knowingly, voluntarily or intelligently entered.

Rule 8.04 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice states in pertinent part:

"Voluntariness. Before the trial court may accept a plea of guilty, the court must determine that the plea is voluntarily and intelligently made and that there is a factual basis for the plea. A plea of guilty is not voluntary if induced by fear, violence, deception, or improper inducements. A showing that the plea of guilty was voluntarily and intelligently made must appear in the record." URCCC 8.04.

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