NO. 2007-CA-00280 GREGORY S. MARTIN

VERSUS

MISSISSIPPI STATE INSTITUTIONS OF HIGHER LEARNING

APPELLEE

APPELLANT

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

JAMES T. METZ, MSB ALAN M. PURDIE, MSB JOSH D. FREEMAN, MSB # PURDIE & METZ, PLLC 402 Legacy Park, Suite B/39157 Post Office Box 2659 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158 Telephone: 601-957-1596 Facsimile: 601-957-2449

Attorneys for Appellee

MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2007-CA-00280

GREGORY S. MARTIN

APPELLANT

VERSUS

MISSISSIPPI STATE INSTITUTIONS OF HIGHER LEARNING

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Institutions of Higher Learning did not ask for a perfect man as argued by plaintiff to the jury; however, it did expect its employee to conduct himself pursuant to his contract. The Institutions of Higher Learning expected and demanded its employee to act in a way not to discredit the University and Coach Martin failed miserably.

The overwhelming weight of the evidence demonstrated that Coach Martin showed (1) discourtesy toward co-workers, students, or the public, (2) committed or threatened physical or verbal abuse of others, (3) exhibited behavior that discredited the University, and (4) engaged in physical altercations. Appellant's conduct supported the Institutions of Higher Learning's decision to terminate Coach Martin. Further, the trial judge observed the manner and demeanor of the witnesses and as dictated by case law, his decision should be given great respect; thus, his decision granting a JNOV should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

Directed verdict and JNOV motions challenge the legal sufficiency of the evidence.

Milburn v. Vinson, 850 So.2d 1219 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002), citing Woodard v. Turnipseed, 784

So. 2d 239 (P13) (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). If, after examining the facts and inferences, the facts and inferences point so overwhelmingly in favor of the movant that no reasonable person could have arrived at a contrary verdict, the motion must be granted. *Id.*; Stubblefield v. Jesco. Inc., 464 So. 2d 47, 54 (Miss. 1984).

"When a verdict is challenged via appeal from denial of a motion JNOV, we have before us the same record that the trial judge had. We see the testimony the trial judge heard. We do not, however, observe the manner and demeanor of the witnesses. We do not smell the smoke of battle. The trial judge's determination whether, under the standards articulated above, a jury issue has been presented, must per force be given great respect here." City of Jackson v. Locklar, 431 So. 2d 475, 478-79 (Miss. 1983). Common sense dictates, that the above standard, which was so well stated by the Supreme Court should be observed when a JNOV is granted, as well as denied.

Martin argues that the jury was entitled to believe Martin when he testified that he was simply doing his job to comply with the NCAA rules when he approached Sutton at Old Waverly and told him to turn in his Mississippi State golf bag. Remarkably, he argues that the jury was entitled to believe Martin when he testified he never intended to hit the disobedient student. Further, he argues that the jury was entitled to believe Martin did nothing that would constitute a breach of his contract.

Appellant is basically arguing that the jury has the discretion to ignore the overwhelming evidence in favor of the Institutions of Higher Learning. Martin contends that he never intended

to hit the disobedient student. Obviously, Martin in his brief concedes that he hit Mr. Sutton, but it was ok since he was disobedient and a student.

Mr. Sutton was not a disobedient student, he was a member of Old Waverly and not on campus. Mr. Martin's contract did not allow an alleged student to be hit regardless of intent, whether on campus or not. Further, hitting an individual, whether a student or not, was not the only violation of his contract that he contends that the jury could choose to ignore.

The contract could also be terminated for any serious violation of any regulation, rule, bylaw, policy or constitutional provision of the State of Mississippi. (R.124, Clerk's papers, Vol. I, 12)

The University had adopted a policy entitled "Guidelines for Employee Conduct", which was a part of Mr. Martin's contract. (R. 155, Clerk's papers, Vol. I, 46) The policy allowed termination for (1) discourtesy toward co-workers, students, or the public including committing or threatening physical or verbal abuse of others, (2) physical altercations. (3) behavior of any nature that discredits the University, including but not limited to, a willful misrepresentation to or on behalf of the University and (4) any other action, behavior, or communication which, as perceived by University officials, adversely affects the University or any sub-unit thereof. (R. 156, Clerk's papers, Vol. I, 46)

Jamie Easley testified that he was a teacher and coach at Calhoun City High School and was a guest at Ole Waverly and witnessed the altercation. (R. 249) Coach Easley heard Coach Martin tell Carl that he was not an SEC golfer. You're a hack and you don't belong here. He described that exchange of words as loud and he was only 10 to 20 yards away. (R. 251) Coach Easley stated that being called a hack is an insult to a golfer. Coach Easley testified that he heard

ŧ.

cursing from Coach Martin and that some eight or ten Old Waverly members were within hearing of the altercation. He stated that as a coach for the last four years, dealing with students that the incident was inappropriate on Coach Martin's part. (R. 253) Coach Easley stated that the kid was upset and pretty close to tears and a couple kids came up to him and were sympathizing with him. (R. 254) Coach Easley testified that he and other members couldn't believe what was going on, especially with a SEC school at Old Waverly. He was embarrassed for Mississippi State University. (R. 256)

Coach Easley testified that in four years of coaching and in his experience as a teacher and a coach, he had never seen a coach conduct himself in the manner in which Coach Martin did toward this player or a teacher conduct themselves in this manner toward a student. (R. 267)

Matt Mooney was a member of the University golf team and his Coach was Coach Martin.

Matt heard a loud exchange of words between Martin and Carl, which made him uncomfortable.

(R. 219) The argument was loud enough that members and guests of Old Waverly also heard it.

(R. 219) Matt observed Coach Martin running down to Carl and they were real close to each other. Matt saw Coach Martin take the golf bag and hit Carl Sutton on the right side of his face and Carl jumped back. (R. 221) Matt Mooney described the altercation as an extremely uncomfortable situation and did not view it as a defensive measure on the part of Coach Martin.

(R. 222)

Craig Horrocks testified that he was on the golf team and witnessed the incident between Coach Martin and Carl Sutton. Craig Horrocks heard Martin tell Carl that he was a 85 shooter and that he was stealing money from him, because he was on scholarship and wasn't actually playing for the team; thus, the scholarship wasn't being use. (R. 242)

į.,

Craig Horrocks saw Carl give the bag to Coach Martin and Martin hit him on the head with the bag. (R. 243) Craig stated that Carl was hit hard enough by the bag to be knocked backwards. Craig testified that he was embarrassed to be a part of the Mississippi State University golf team that morning. Further, he stated that members and guests of Old Waverly witnesses the event. (R. 243)

The overwhelming weight of the evidence showed that Coach Martin, an MSU employee, made a spectacle of himself. It cannot be denied that his actions discredited the University. Making matters worse, if possible, his conduct was displayed on Old Waverly, a private golf course, which had invited the MSU team to use its facilities. Old Waverly's reward for extending the favor was an event which drew criticism of the management's decision to allow MSU's participation.

Appellant's contract allowed termination for (1) discourtesy toward co-workers, students, or the public including committing or threatening physical or verbal abuse of others, (2) Physical altercations, (3) behavior of any nature that discredits the University, including but not limited to, a willful misrepresentation to or on behalf of the University and (4) any other action, behavior, or communication which, as perceived by University officials, adversely affects the University or any sub-unit thereof.

Coach Martin testified, "the bag I grazed him, went up his shoulder and grazed him on the side of the head." (R. 171)

Coach Martin further testified as follows:

Q: Isn't it true that after this incident, you went over to Matt Mooney, one of your players, and said, Bubba, I lost it. I'm through. I let him get to me. Do

you agree with that?

Martin:

I believe I said that. (R.175)

Its hard to imagine a situation more humiliating for the University. There is no doubt that Coach Martin's actions showed (1) discourtesy toward co-workers, students, or the public, (2) committed or threatened physical or verbal abuse of others, (3) exhibited behavior that discredited the University, and (4) engaged in physical altercations. As dictated by his contract, any one of the above actions required termination. The overwhelming weight of the evidence, as acknowledged by the trial judge, showed that he breached his contract. Indeed, he breached numerous conditions of his contract and his dismissal was in order.

CONCLUSION

The overwhelming weight of the evidence supported the trial judge's decision to grant the appellee a JNOV and that decision should be affirmed.